FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/2/2023 4:30 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101770-7
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 56478-5-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROYAL OAKS COUNTRY CLUB, a Washington Non-Profit Corporation,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Petitioner.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DAVID MOON, WSBA No. 54546 Assistant Attorney General HEIDI A. IRVIN, WSBA No. 17500 Senior Counsel PO Box 40123 Olympia WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515, OID No. 91027

I. INTRODUCTION

Since its enactment, the Revenue Act of 1935 has included a business and occupation tax deduction for "bona fide . . . initiation fees," as well as dues, contributions, and various other receipts. Consistently since the 1930s, the Department of Revenue and its predecessor, the Washington State Tax Commission, have interpreted this deduction in keeping with its plain meaning: to include only amounts genuinely paid solely for the privilege of joining the membership of an organization.

Supreme Court and Court of Appeals case law applying the deduction statute to dues and contributions have agreed with the Department. Charges are not "bona fide" if they are paid in exchange for services, rather than for the privilege of membership.¹

¹ Red Cedar Shingle Bureau v. State, 62 Wn.2d 341, 382 P.2d 503 (1963); Grp. Health Coop. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. Tax Comm'n, 72 Wn.2d 422, 433 P.2d 201 (1967); Auto. Club of Wash. v. Dep't of Revenue, 27 Wn. App. 781, 621 P.2d 760 (1980).

The Court of Appeals' decision below conflicts with these precedents. The Court erroneously concluded that a country club could deduct the full amount of its initiation fees, even though members unquestionably paid a large part of those fees for access to the club's golf and recreational facilities. This is illustrated by the fact that some members paid \$10,000 initiation fees for full access to those facilities, when the privilege of membership, including access to all social events, could be had for a mere \$200 initiation fee. The court distinguished prior case law on the rationale that those cases involved dues. But the holdings of those precedents apply with equal force to initiation fees. By concluding otherwise the court created conflicting precedent, meriting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

The decision below creates the perverse result that the same sale of services is taxable when charged through recurring dues payments, but tax-free when charged up front. In effect, the decision creates a significant new tax deduction for

membership-model businesses when they charge up front for services. The decision will have far-reaching effects on the taxation of gyms and athletic facilities, country clubs, trade organizations, homeowners' associations, membership-model stores, and any other entity that charges initiation fees. Due to its pervasive effects across industries, the issue presented is also one of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Department of Revenue seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision, *Royal Oaks Country Club v*.

Department of Revenue, No. 56478-5-II, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___,

523 P.3d 1198 (Jan. 31, 2023). A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The tax code in RCW 82.04.4282 provides a business and occupation tax deduction for "bona fide . . . initiation fees" paid solely for the privilege of membership in a club or other organization, rather than in exchange for goods or services.

Was Royal Oaks Country Club entitled to fully deduct its initiation fees as bona fide when members' "initiation fee" amounts varied dramatically in direct correlation to the amount of retail services they received?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background on the Deduction Statute

Washington imposes the business and occupation (B&O) tax upon every person "for the act or privilege of engaging in business activities," with "business" broadly defined to include "all activities engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or advantage to the taxpayer or to another person or class, directly or indirectly." RCW 82.04.140, .220. The tax rate depends on the classification of the business activity, one of which is making retail sales. *See* RCW 82.04.250. During the tax period at issue, charges for the provision of golf, swimming, and fitness facilities fell within the statutory definition of "retail

sale." *See* former RCW 82.04.050(3)(a), (g) (2011).²

Taxpayers' gross receipts for providing such facilities were therefore subject to B&O tax under the retailing classification, and also subject to retail sales tax. RCW 82.04.250 (retailing B&O tax); RCW 82.08.020 (retail sales tax); RCW 82.08.050(3) (retailers' obligation to remit retail sales tax regardless of whether they collected it from consumers).

The deduction statute at issue in this case,

RCW 82.04.4282 (attached as Appendix B), provides a

deduction from the B&O tax for "bona fide . . . initiation fees."

This deduction has existed since 1935, when the B&O tax was enacted. Laws of 1935, ch. 180, § 12(b). Since that time, the

State's taxing authorities have consistently interpreted the initiation fee deduction to include only amounts genuinely paid

² The tax treatment of these activities remains largely unchanged, but the statute has since been reorganized. *See* RCW 82.04.050(3)(g)(i), (15)(a).

for initiation into an organization—not amounts paid for receiving goods or services. *See infra* § V.B.

Often, taxpayers do not segregate the portion of their initiation fees (or dues, which are exempted by the same statute) attributable to providing the privilege of membership from the portion attributable to providing taxable goods and services. See, e.g., Auto. Club, 27 Wn. App. at 786. The Court of Appeals has held that "[a]bsent such a segregation, the Department may presume that the entire amount is taxable." *Id*. at 786-87. Nonetheless, the Department has adopted a "cost of production" calculation method to assist taxpayers that do not segregate their initiation fees (or dues) in claiming the deduction. See former WAC 458-20-183(4)(c)(ii) (2011)³ (hereinafter "former Rule 183") (in effect during the tax period); Excise Tax Advisory 3230.2021 (currently in effect). This method takes a taxpayer's costs of producing taxable

³ A copy of former Rule 183 is attached as Appendix F.

goods and services as a fraction of their total operating costs, multiplies that fraction by the taxpayer's gross receipts, and permits the taxpayer to deduct the remainder of its gross receipts as bona fide initiation fees and dues. *See* former Rule 183(4)(c)(ii); ETA 3230.2021.

B. Royal Oaks' Facilities, Membership Levels, and Initiation Fees

Royal Oaks Country Club owns and operates a country club in Vancouver, Washington. CP 45. The club offers golf, fitness, swimming, and dining facilities and services. CP 45-46. Its golf facilities include an 18-hole golf course, two driving ranges, a practice putting green, a practice chipping area, a practice bunker (i.e., sand trap), and a pro shop retail center. *Id.* Its fitness center includes cardio equipment, weight machines, free weights, stretching machines, and locker rooms. CP 46. Royal Oaks also operates a swimming pool facility, complete with a lazy river, children's wading pool, hot tub, and locker rooms. *Id.*

Royal Oaks has several membership levels, and facility access varies by level. "Proprietary," "corporate," and "intermediate" members enjoy full access to all facilities.

CP 46-47. "Social with golf" members have limited access to the golf facilities and unlimited access to the swimming, fitness, and restaurant facilities. *Id.* "Social" members have no access to the golf facilities, but have unlimited access to the other facilities. CP 47. Lastly, "dining" members have no access to the golf, swimming, or fitness facilities, but have unlimited access to the restaurant facilities. CP 48. Dining members, along with all other membership levels, have access to "all social events." CP 201.

The amount of one-time initiation fees that new members paid during the tax period directly correlated with their level of facility access. New proprietary, corporate, and intermediate members, all of whom enjoyed full access to all facilities, paid

\$10,000.4 CP 48. "Social with golf" members paid between \$1,000 and \$2,500 in initiation fees, depending on the year. *Id.* Social (without golf) members consistently paid a lower amount—between \$200 and \$1,500, depending on the year. *Id.* Dining members consistently paid the lowest initiation fee amount of any membership level—\$200 in the last half of the tax period, at a time when social (without golf) members paid \$1,500. CP 48.

C. The Superior Court Held that Royal Oaks' Initiation Fees Were Not Fully Deductible, but the Court of Appeals Reversed

The Department audited Royal Oaks for the tax period

January 1, 2011, through March 31, 2016, and issued

assessments. CP 256-58. The auditor determined that initiation

fees and dues from membership levels that did not receive retail

services were fully deductible. CP 267. Using former Rule

183's cost of production method, the auditor determined that

⁴ This amount was reduced to \$5,000 during four months of the tax period in an effort to attract new members. *See* CP 48.

65.35% of the other membership levels' initiation fees and dues were bona fide (i.e., paid purely for the privilege of membership) and thus deductible from the B&O tax. CP 257, 261-62, 267. Thus, for example, \$6,535 of a proprietary member's \$10,000 initiation fee amount was deemed deductible. The remaining amounts were subject to B&O tax under the retailing classification. CP 257, 261-62. Because they qualified as retail sales, they were also subject to retail sales tax. *Id*.

Following an administrative appeal, Royal Oaks filed this excise tax refund action under RCW 82.32.180, asserting that under RCW 82.04.4282, its initiation fees were fully deductible from both the retailing B&O tax and retail sales tax. CP 5-6.

The superior court granted summary judgment to the Department. CP 368-71. In a published decision, the Court of Appeals reversed. App. A.

V. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with two of this Court's decisions and another Court of Appeals decision. See Red Cedar, 62 Wn.2d 341; Grp. Health, 72 Wn.2d 422; Auto. Club, 27 Wn. App. 781. Those decisions interpreted the plain meaning of the deduction statute consistently with nearly a century of Department and Tax Commission rules. Simply put, initiation fees and dues are "bona fide" only if they are genuinely paid solely for the privilege of membership, and not in exchange for goods or services. Rather than construing the deduction narrowly as required by case law, the decision below effectively creates a new tax deduction for retail service charges when structured as up-front rather than as periodic payments. This conflict with existing precedent, along with the decision's effects across a broad range of industries, merit this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

A. Construing the Deduction to Include Amounts Paid for Retail Services Conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Precedent

Previous appellate case law has consistently interpreted the deduction statute to include only amounts genuinely paid for the privilege of membership in an organization, not amounts paid in exchange for services. The decision below conflicts with those cases by permitting Royal Oaks to fully deduct its initiation fees, even though a large portion of some members' fees was a premium paid for access to retail facilities.

RCW 82.04.4282 reads in relevant part:

In computing tax there may be deducted from the measure of tax amounts derived from bona fide (1) initiation fees, (2) dues, (3) contributions, (4) donations, (5) tuition fees This section may not be construed to exempt any person, association, or society from tax liability upon selling tangible personal property, . . . or upon providing facilities or other services for which a special charge is made to members or others. If dues are in exchange for any significant amount of goods or services rendered by the recipient thereof to members without any additional charge to the member, or if the dues are graduated upon the amount of goods or services rendered, the value of such goods or services shall not be considered as a deduction under this section.

The statute's first sentence sets forth a limited deduction for specifically enumerated "bona fide" receipts. The second and third sentences provide additional limiting language on how the deduction should be construed. That is, they provide further clarification on what it means for the enumerated receipts to be "bona fide." To be deductible, the claimed amount must be one of the items specifically listed in the first sentence and must be a "bona fide" instance of that item.

1. Red Cedar, Group Health, and Automobile Club interpreted the deduction statute to exclude amounts paid in exchange for services

Both this Court and the Court of Appeals have interpreted the deduction statute to exclude amounts that an organization's members paid in exchange for services. In *Red Cedar*, this Court rejected a trade association's claim that its cedar shingle manufacturer-members' recurring payments were deductible as "dues" or "contributions." 62 Wn.2d at 346. The Court reasoned that the trade association's position "would mean in effect that [it] would pay no [B&O] tax respecting its

public relations and business promotional activities in [sic] behalf of its member-manufacturers." *Id.* Because the payments were made "for services rendered" and individual members' payment amounts were "roughly in proportion" to the amount of services they received, the payments were not deductible as bona fide dues or contributions. *Id.* at 347.

Similarly, in *Group Health*, this Court held that a healthcare cooperative members' monthly payments were not "bona fide" dues because they were paid to finance prepaid medical services. 72 Wn.2d at 433-35. The Court reasoned that Group Health's designation of the payments as "dues" was not determinative. *Id.* at 434. Because members' payments were "related to or graduated upon the cost of operation which, in turn, reflect[ed] upon the services available and furnished to [Group Health's] members," the payments were not bona fide dues. *Id.*

In *Automobile Club*, the Court of Appeals further refined *Group Health*'s holding consistent with the Department's and

Tax Commission's longstanding rules: the purpose of the RCW 82.04.4282 deduction is "to exempt from taxation only revenue exacted for the privilege of membership." Auto. Club, 27 Wn. App. at 786; *accord* former Rule 183(2)(i) ("Bona fide initiation fees'... shall include only those one-time amounts paid which genuinely represent the value of membership in a club or similar organization. It shall not include any amount paid for or attributable to the privilege of receiving any goods or services other than mere nominal membership."); former Rule 117 (1936) ("initiation fees include only amounts actually required to be paid by a person to a club or similar organization for the sole privilege of joining such club or similar organization.") (attached as Appendix C).

To interpret the statute otherwise would circumvent the broad scope of the B&O tax and the requirement that deductions be strictly construed against the taxpayer. *Auto*. *Club*, 27 Wn. App. at 786-87. "In adopting our State's B&O tax system the legislature intended to impose the business and

occupation tax upon virtually all business activities carried on within the state, and to leave practically no business and commerce free of . . . tax." *Simpson Inv. Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 141 Wn.2d 139, 149, 3 P.3d 741 (2000) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Accordingly, exemptions and deductions "must be narrowly construed," and the taxpayer's receipts "must come within that tiny niche reserved for" the applicable deduction. *Budget Rent-A-Car of Wash.-Or., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 81 Wn.2d 171, 174-75, 500 P.2d 764 (1972).

2. The decision below conflicts with *Red Cedar*, *Group Health*, and *Automobile Club*

Here, the Court of Appeals erroneously distinguished *Red Cedar*, *Group Health*, and *Automobile Club* on the grounds that they involved dues rather than initiation fees. The Court of Appeals incorrectly reasoned that initiation fees are treated differently than dues for three reasons.

First, the Court of Appeals wrongly concluded that Royal
Oaks members' initiation fees were paid for initiation rather

than for their use of club facilities or services, because new members must also pay their first month's dues along with the initiation fee before being allowed to use club facilities. Slip Op. at 10. But that is like saying that a down payment on a new car is not a payment for the car, because the purchaser must also pay their first month's loan payment before driving the car off the lot. Here, Royal Oaks members' "initiation fee" payments varied dramatically in correlation with the amount of services they received. Members surely did not pay \$10,000 in in initiation fees simply to join the club when they could have done so, and gained access to all social events, for a \$200 dining-level initiation fee. CP 48. Instead, they paid thousands of extra dollars in exchange for retail services—specifically, the right to unlimited access to the club's golf, swimming, and fitness facilities. Id.

Under the Court of Appeals' reasoning, membershipbased businesses may broadly deduct up-front payments made in exchange for retail goods and services, so long as members must also pay their first month's dues before accessing those goods or services. That conflicts with the well-established principle that deductions are narrowly construed, and it conflicts with the case law interpreting this deduction statute. The purpose of the deduction statute was not to create favorable tax treatment for up-front versus recurring retail payments. But that is the effect of the Court of Appeals' decision, and it will significantly impact the Department's administration of RCW 82.04.4282.

Second, the Court of Appeals erroneously held that *Red*Cedar, Group Health, and Automobile Club "are inapposite

because they analyze the predecessor to the current statute."

Slip Op. at 13. While it is true that the deduction statute has

since been revised and recodified from former RCW

82.04.430(2) (1980) to RCW 82.04.4282, the Legislature

expressly stated that renumbering the statute has no effect on its

meaning. Laws of 1980, ch. 37, § 1 (the renumbering "shall not

change the meaning of any of the exemptions or deductions involved").

Nor did the Court of Appeals point to any change in statutory language that would render those cases inapposite. In truth, differences in the two statutes' wording are superficial rather than substantive. Compare former RCW 82.04.430(2) (1980) ("Dues which are for, or graduated upon, the amount of service rendered by the recipient thereof are not permitted as a deduction hereunder.") with RCW 82.04.4282("If dues are in exchange for any significant amount of goods or services rendered by the recipient thereof to members without any additional charge to the member, or if the dues are graduated upon the amount of goods or services rendered, the value of such goods or services shall not be considered as a deduction under this section."). Red Cedar, Group Health, and Automobile Club remain good law and conflict with the decision below.

Third, the Court of Appeals wrongly concluded that initiation fees differ from dues based on the third and final sentence of the deduction statute. Slip Op. at 12-14. That sentence reads:

If dues are in exchange for any significant amount of goods or services rendered by the recipient thereof to members without any additional charge to the member, or if the dues are graduated upon the amount of goods or services rendered, the value of such goods or services shall not be considered as a deduction under this section.

RCW 82.04.4282. This proviso clarifies that receipts are not "bona fide," and thus not deductible, if they are in exchange for a significant amount of goods or services or graduated upon the amount of goods or services rendered. The Court of Appeals concluded that this sentence is inapplicable to initiation fees because it uses the term "dues" and not "initiation fees." Slip. Op. at 13-14. The apparent—and problematic—consequence of that reasoning is that initiation fees are deductible *even if* they are paid in exchange for a significant amount of goods or

services or graduated upon the amount of services rendered (as Royal Oaks' initiation fees were).

But this Court in *Red Cedar* expressly held that the deduction statute's final proviso sentence applies to the other forms of receipts enumerated in the first sentence, not only to "dues." 62 Wn.2d at 347. The Court held that this proviso applied not only to "dues," but also to other types of charges enumerated in the first sentence of the deduction statute:

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