FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/29/2023 10:40 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1017707 (Court of Appeals No. 56478-5-II)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROYAL OAKS COUNTRY CLUB,

Respondent,

v.

WA STATE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Steven E. Turner, WSB No. 33840 Steven Turner Law PLLC 1409 Franklin Street, Suite 216 Vancouver, WA 98660 Telephone: (971) 563-4696 Email: steven@steventurnerlaw.com

Attorney for Respondent Royal Oaks Country Club

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

III. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

The court should deny review for three main reasons. First, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the law to the undisputed facts and reached the correct decision. Second, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any other decision by the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals because DOR's cited cases are inapposite. And third, while all taxation cases involve some issue of public interest, this case does not involve any issue of *substantial* public interest; it is just one of many appellate decisions interpreting Washington's tax laws.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined the Legislature's Intent Based on the Plain and Unambiguous Language in the Statute.

The Court of Appeals engaged in a de novo review of the proper interpretation of RCW 82.04.4282. The following is the full text of the statute, but—for the sake of clarity—it has been broken down into the three sentences that make up the whole,

and some emphasis has been added.

In computing tax there may be deducted from the measure of tax amounts derived from **bona fide** (1) **initiation fees**, (2) **dues**, (3) contributions, (4) donations, (5) tuition fees, (6) charges made by a nonprofit trade or professional organization for attending or occupying space at a trade show, convention, or educational seminar sponsored by the nonprofit trade or professional organization, which trade show, convention, or educational seminar is not open to the general public, (7) charges made for operation of privately operated kindergartens, and (8) endowment funds.

This section may not be construed to exempt any person, association, or society from tax liability upon selling tangible personal property, digital goods, digital codes, or digital automated services, or upon providing facilities or other services for which a special charge is made to members or others.

If *dues* are in exchange for any significant amount of goods or services rendered by the recipient thereof to members without any additional charge to the member, or if the *dues* are graduated upon the amount of goods or services rendered, the value of such goods or services shall not be considered as a deduction under this section. The Court of Appeals endeavored to determine the legislature's intent based on the statute's plain language. If the plain language is unambiguous, the courts "give the words their common and ordinary meaning."⁴ Moreover, as the Court of Appeals observed: "Where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, courts will not construe the statute but will glean the legislative intent from the words of the statute itself, regardless of contrary interpretation by an administrative agency."⁵

1. The Court of Appeals Correctly Interpreted the First Sentence of the Statute

The Court of Appeals then analyzed each sentence of the statute. With respect to the first sentence, the court noted that the legislature did not define the terms "bona fide" or "initiation fees." The court then looked to the dictionary definitions of those terms. Citing WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW

⁴ Slip Op., p. 6, quoting *Tesoro Refining & Mktg. Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 173 Wn.2d 551, 556, 269 P.3d 1013 (2012).

⁵ Slip Op., pp. 6-7 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY (2002), the court defined "bona fide" as "made in good faith without fraud or deceit," "SINCERE," or "not specious or counterfeit: GENUINE." Similarly, the court defined "initiation" as "the act or an instance of formally initiating (as into an office, sect, or society)." Taken together, the court defined "bona fide initiation fees" as "fees paid genuinely for the act or instance of formally initiating someone."⁶

Based on the "ordinary, everyday meaning" of these terms, the Court of Appeals found that the first sentence of the statute was unambiguous. Moreover, the court noted that the term "bona fide initiation fees" did not include dues, because dues were listed separately in the first sentence, and dues are addressed separately in the third sentence of the statute. Thus, the court found the statute allows for the deduction of initiation fees that "genuinely related to the allowance of a person into club membership," and it was "undisputed that new members

⁶ Id. at p. 9.

pay a one-time initiation fee to become a member at Royal Oaks."⁷

The Court of Appeals then rejected the same argument that DOR presents in its petition—that the initiation fees are not bona fide because their amounts correlate to the level of facilities and services available to different membership levels.

> While the membership level determines the members' ability to access more services and facilities, the membership level also determines a member's ability to participate in tournaments, vote for leaders, serve in leadership positions, transfer memberships, and receive refund equities in the event of member resignation. Further, payment of the initiation fee does not automatically entitle new members to use Royal Oaks' facilities and services. Rather, Royal Oaks' new members must pay their first month's dues along with the initiation fee before they are allowed to use the club's facilities and services.

In its petition, DOR argues that the club's initiation fees

are just like a "down payment on a new car..., because the

purchaser must also pay their first month's loan payment before

⁷ Ibid.

driving the car off the lot.⁷⁸ But this analogy is fraught with problems. First, as a factual matter, there is no reason a buyer cannot drive the car off the lot after making the down payment on a loan; the "first month's loan payment" does not ordinarily become due until the following month. Second, a downpayment on a car cannot be said to be a "bona fide initiation fee" because it does not admit the buyer into any club or organization. Third, even after the monthly loan payments have been made, the buyer is still able to enjoy the use of the car, whereas members of Royal Oaks who stop making monthly dues payments will lose their use of the club's facilities.

DOR seeks to bolster its argument by pointing out that the dining members pay only \$200 in initiation fees, the implication being the additional \$9,800 paid by proprietary members must be for nothing more than additional "retail services." But this point suffers from two fundamental flaws. First DOR's auditor did not tax \$9,800 of the \$10,000

⁸ Petition for Review ("PR"), p. 17.

proprietary membership fee, he taxed a much smaller percentage using a method allowed under former Rule 183. Second, it ignores the fact that proprietary members receive many other rights and privileges—besides increased use of the facility—that warrant a higher initiation fee.

DOR continues its poor analogizing by arguing that, under the Court of Appeals' reasoning, businesses "may broadly deduct up-front payments made in exchange for retail goods and services, so long as members must also pay their first month's dues before accessing those goods or services."⁹ This analogy is inapt, however, because Royal Oaks members do not receive any "goods or services" in exchange for their initiation fees or dues—they merely receive the right to pay monthly dues to use the facilities. Moreover, using initiation fees as a taxevasion strategy would fail because the initiation fees must be "bona fide," meaning the fee does nothing more than allow a

⁹ PR, pp. 17-18.

person to be admitted to a certain level of membership in a club or organization.

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly interpreted the first sentence of RCW 82.04.4282, and based on this interpretation, the court correctly determined that Royal Oaks' initiation fees qualify as "bona fide initiation fees."

> Royal Oaks' initiation fees are for new members to become members of the club, not for their use of club facilities or services. Therefore, Royal Oaks' initiation fees fall within the plain language of the deduction for "bona fide initiation fees" allowed in the first sentence of RCW 82.04.4282.¹⁰

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Interpreted the Second Sentence of the Statute

Although it did not raise this argument to the trial court, DOR argued to the Court of Appeals that the second sentence of the statute limited Royal Oaks' ability to deduct its initiation fees. The Court of Appeals disposed of this argument, and

¹⁰ Slip Op., p. 10.

DOR has not renewed its argument in its petition. As a result,

Royal Oaks will not belabor the point.

3. The Court of Appeals Correctly Interpreted the Third Sentence of the Statute

As a reminder, the third sentence of RCW 82.04.4282

provides as follows:

If *dues* are in exchange for any significant amount of goods or services rendered by the recipient thereof to members without any additional charge to the member, or if the *dues* are graduated upon the amount of goods or services rendered, the value of such goods or services shall not be considered as a deduction under this section. (Emphasis added.)

This is the sentence upon which DOR hangs its hat.

DOR argued to the Court of Appeals that "the instance of the word 'dues' in the third sentence is illustrative, rather than exclusive of, the other categories of receipts listed in the first sentence...."¹¹ But this argument violates numerous rules of statutory interpretation, first and foremost the "judicial doctrine

¹¹ Respondent's Brief, p. 23.

expressio unius est exclusio alterius: the expression of one is the exclusion of the other."¹²

The DOR freely admits it has a long-standing practice of treating dues and initiation fees interchangeably. But this approach ignores the plain and unambiguous language of the statute, which evinces the legislature's intent to impose the limitation set forth in the third sentence on dues, and only dues. If the legislature had intended the limitation of the third sentence to also apply to all of the payment categories, then it would have written the statute thus:

If [any of the amounts listed above] are in exchange for any significant amount of goods or services rendered by the recipient thereof to members without any additional charge to the member, or if [any of the amounts listed above] are graduated upon the amount of goods or services rendered, the value of such goods or services shall not be considered as a deduction under this section.

¹² Landmark Development, Inc. v. City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 561, 571, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999).

But the legislature did not use those words, nor did it choose to impose the limitation on initiation fees. As the Court of Appeals observed:

The plain language of the third sentence applies only to "dues" and does not mention any of the other payments listed in the first sentence of the statute. Because we must not add words where the legislature chose to not include them, we decline to extend the application of the third sentence to other payments that are not dues.

The Court of Appeals noted the only other adjudicated

decision addressing the application of the statute's third sentence to initiation fees, *Black Diamond Gun Club v. Dep't of Revenue*, No. 70949, 2010 WL 3944939 (Wash. Bd. of Tax Appeals Sept. 14, 2010).¹³ In Black Diamond, the gun club charged its members an "initiation fee of \$150" and "annual dues of \$75." Like Royal Oaks, the gun club objected to DOR's refusal to allow initiation fees to be deducted in full.

DOR advanced its same argument to the Board of Tax Appeals—that RCW 82.04.4282 treats initiation fees and dues

¹³ For the court's convenience, a copy of this decision is attached as the appendix to this Answer.

the same, and they are both subject to the proviso contained in the third sentence of the statute. DOR also relied on the same regulation that it relies on in this case, former Rule 183, in support of its position. The Board of Tax Appeals soundly rejected DOR's argument.

There are eight categories of payments or charges that may be deducted from B&O and sales taxes pursuant to RCW 82.04.020,.050, and .220. Initiation fees and dues are listed separately. Only one of the eight categories subject to a proviso is that of dues. The last sentence of RCW 82.04.4282 indicates that if dues are in exchange for any significant amount of goods and services, then they shall not be deductible. *There is no such proviso for the category of initiation fees.*¹⁴

The BTA held that the initiation fee of \$150 paid to the

gun club was qualitatively different from the periodic dues the

members must pay each year.

Upon joining the Club, new members pay a one-time initiation fee of \$150. The Board finds that, like many clubs, that fee is distinguishable from the monthly or annual dues, which members

¹⁴ Black Diamond Gun Club, supra, at p. 8 (emphasis added).

pay for the "goods and services rendered by" the club to its members."¹⁵

In reaching this holding, the BTA took DOR to task for

failing to distinguish between initiation fees and dues and for

throwing them into the same pot.

RCW 82.04.4282 clearly contemplates that the deductible portion of dues payments depends upon the extent to which goods and services have been received from the club/taxpayer by the dues payer. Notwithstanding this dichotomy, the Department consistently, and in the Board's view *erroneously, bundles both initiation fees and monthly or periodic dues* when referring to inclusion or exclusion under the statute.¹⁶

DOR now argues that because it has a long-standing policy of treating dues and initiation fees interchangeably, it should be allowed to continue to make the same mistake. But the fact that a misguided policy has been long-standing does not warrant perpetuating it. Instead, the Court of Appeals properly corrected DOR's mistake and made clear that—so long as a fee

¹⁵ *Ibid*.

¹⁶ *Id.* (emphasis added).

is a "bona fide initiation fee"—the legislature intended it to be fully deductible.

DOR's reliance on former Rule 183 is also misplaced, however, because this rule is based on DOR's misinterpretation of the governing statute. When the meaning of the plain language of a taxation statute is clear, the courts do not defer to agency rules or regulations that are inconsistent with the statute. "Where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, courts will not construe the statute but will glean the legislative intent from the words of the statute itself, *regardless of contrary interpretation by an administrative agency*."¹⁷

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly decided "bona fide initiation fees" are fully deductible, and they are not subject to the limitation the legislature imposed on the deductibility of dues. Hence, the Supreme Court should let the published opinion of the Court of Appeals stand as the correct

¹⁷ Slip Op., pp. 6-7 (emphasis added) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

statement of the law, and there is no reason for the Supreme Court to grant DOR's petition for review.

B. The Decision Does Not Conflict with any Decision by the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals

As demonstrated above, the Court of Appeals' decision reaches the correct result. Moreover, contrary to DOR's argument, the decision does not conflict with any prior decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. DOR cited the same three cases to the Court of Appeals, but the court dismissed them as inapposite; all of them involved a dispute over the deductibility of dues, and none of them involved a dispute over the deductibility of initiation fees.

First, DOR cites the Supreme Court decision in *Group Health Co-Op v. Tax Comm'n.*¹⁸ But *Group Health* did not address in any way the deductibility of initiation fees—it only addressed periodic dues. According to the court, the "issue

22

¹⁸ *Group Health Co-Op v. Tax Comm'n*, 72 Wn.2d 422, 433 P.2d 201 (1967) (emphasis added).

presented [was] whether the *monthly fees* paid by respondent's members fall within the 'bona fide *dues*' deduction permitted by [the former] RCW 82.04.430(2)."¹⁹ The *Group Health* court noted that the taxpayer also collected a "\$200 entrance fee, a portion of which is refundable following termination of membership."²⁰ There is no indication that this initiation fee was taxed, nor was its deductibility discussed anywhere in the court's opinion. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision below does not conflict in any way with the Supreme Court's decision in *Group Health*.

The same is true for the other Supreme Court decision cited by DOR, *Red Cedar Shingle Bureau v. State.*²¹ But that is also inapposite, for several reasons. First and foremost, as DOR fails to mention, the state did not impose any tax on the initiation fees imposed by the trade association. "The Tax Commission has *excluded from the tax base amounts received*

¹⁹ *Id.* at 433.

²⁰ *Id.* at 424.

²¹ 62 Wn.2d 341, 382 P.2d 503 (1963).

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